2011

Alonzo Cahoon v. Hinckley Town Appeal Authority, and Hinckley Town : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to UTAH CODE ANN. § 78A-4-103(2)(j).

ISSUES PRESENTED AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

1. Did the trial court err in using a Recital, which the Hinckley Town failed to properly post or codify, to interpret the ordinances of the town and to affirm the decision of the Hinckley Town Appeal Authority, thereby finding that Mr. Cahoon's fence is in violation of Hinckley Town's ordinances?

a. Standard of Review: An appellate court reviews a district court's determination of a land use decision made by a municipal appeal authority under an arbitrary, capricious and illegal standard. Mr. Cahoon has brought forth his arguments on the basis of illegality. "Because a determination of illegality is based on the land use authority's interpretation of zoning ordinances, we review such determinations for correctness, but we also afford some level of non-binding deference to the interpretation advanced by the land use authority." *Fox v. Park City*, 2008 UT 85, ¶ 11, 200 P.3d 182; *See also, Carrier v. Salt Lake County*, 2004 UT 98, ¶ 28, 104 P.3d 1208.

b. Preservation: This issue was raised and preserved before the Hinckley Town Appeal Authority at the hearing, and in Mr. Cahoon's opening Memorandum and his Reply Memorandum in support of his Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. (See, Appeal Authority Hearing Transcript (hereinafter "AA Hearing"), Record

(hereinafter “R.”) p. 216-220; Memorandum and Reply Memorandum, R. 268-298, 326-338).¹

2. Did the trial court err in failing to strictly construe Hinckley Town’s zoning ordinances in favor of Mr. Cahoon?

a. Standard of Review: An appellate court reviews a district court’s determination of a land use decision made by a municipal appeal authority under an arbitrary, capricious and illegal standard. Mr. Cahoon has brought forth his arguments on the basis of illegality. “Because a determination of illegality is based on the land use authority’s interpretation of zoning ordinances, we review such determinations for correctness, but we also afford some level of non-binding deference to the interpretation advanced by the land use authority.” *Fox*, 2008 UT 85, ¶ 11; *See also, Carrier*, 2004 UT 98, ¶ 28.

b. Preservation: This issue was raised and preserved in Mr. Cahoon’s opening Memorandum and his Reply Memorandum in support of his Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. (See, AA Hearing, R. 216-220; Memorandum and Reply Memorandum, R. 268-298, 326-338).

¹ The pagination of the Record in this matter is somewhat confused. Normally, the Record is stamped sequentially in reverse order. UTAH R. APP. P., Rule 11(b)(2)(A). However, it appears in this matter that the trial court stamped each document with a beginning number, and then stamped each page in each document in descending order. Hence, the pages in the record begin at page 13 proceeding through to page 1, then to page 14, then to page 17 through 15, and so on. At one point the pagination jumps from page 33 to page 259. In order to reduce confusion, this brief will refer to the title of the document being referenced, along with the Record page number.

3. Did the trial court err in failing to follow the vested rights doctrine and grant Mr. Cahoon's fence building permit when such permit complied with all of Hinckley Town's zoning ordinances at the time of his application?

a. Standard of Review: An appellate court reviews a district court's determination of a land use decision made by a municipal appeal authority under an arbitrary, capricious and illegal standard. Mr. Cahoon has brought forth his arguments on the basis of illegality. "Because a determination of illegality is based on the land use authority's interpretation of zoning ordinances, we review such determinations for correctness, but we also afford some level of non-binding deference to the interpretation advanced by the land use authority." *Fox*, 2008 UT 85, ¶ 11; *See also, Carrier*, 2004 UT 98, ¶ 28.

b. Preservation: This issue was preserved at the Hinckley Town Appeal Authority hearing and in the trial court at oral arguments for Mr. Cahoon's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. (See Appeal Authority Hearing Documentation, R. 98-106; Trial Court Oral Arguments, R. 381, Transcript p. 30, lines 13-20.)

STATUTES AND ORDINANCES WHOSE INTERPRETATION IS OF CENTRAL IMPORTANCE TO THE APPEAL

UTAH CODE ANN. §§ 10-3-711(1), -713, -715.

Hinckley Town Code 10-4-8(A) and 10-4-13(G).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2006, Appellant Alonzo Cahoon built a home on a lot he owned in Hinckley Town, Millard County, Utah. (Building Permit, R. 45-6.) In early 2008 Mr. Cahoon contacted Hinckley Town in regards to the construction of a fence around his home. (Town Council Minutes, R. 47-56) Mr. Cahoon had various discussions and meetings with the Hinckley Town Council and its Mayor in which Mr. Cahoon was given mixed messages regarding whether he could move forward in building his fence. (Town Council Minutes, R. 47-56; Town Council Transcript, R. 57-86; AA Hearing, R. 153-54, 234.) Ultimately, Mr. Cahoon built the fence in compliance with Hinckley Town's published zoning ordinances. Specifically, Hinckley Town ordinances provide that any solid fence built within the 30 foot front yard setback requirement cannot exceed 36 inches. (Addendum: Hinckley Town Code 10-4-13G; R. 138.) Due to the building permit granted to Mr. Cahoon for the construction of his home, it was unclear which portion of Mr. Cahoon's lot would be considered the front yard. (R. 45-6.) Although, Mr. Cahoon built portions of his molded concrete fence to exceed 36 inches in height he ensured that the fence was set back more than 30 feet from his lot or parcel line. (AA Hearing, R. 154, 162.)

After Mr. Cahoon constructed his fence, Hinckley Town asserted that the fence was in violation of Town ordinances and attempted to charge Mr. Cahoon criminally. (AA Hearing, R. 232.) However, Hinckely Town had never issued a written denial of his fence permit. Therefore, Hinckley Town was forced to drop the criminal charges and

issued a written denial, which Mr. Cahoon appealed pursuant to UTAH CODE ANN. § 10-9a-704. On March 4, 2009 the Hinckley Town Appeal Authority convened a hearing to address Mr. Cahoon's appeal. (AA Hearing, R. 142.)

As is common in many rural communities, the street which fronts Mr. Cahoon's home is not dedicated to the city, but rather Mr. Cahoon's title line extends to the middle of the road. (AA Hearing, R. 154, 162, 189-192.) The Town therefore only has a right-of-way along the road fronting Mr. Cahoon's property and his lot or title line extends half way through the road. *Id.* At the hearing Mr. Cahoon presented undisputed evidence that the fence is set back 35 feet 8 inches from his property line, well within the 30 foot set back requirement. *Id.* Based on the undisputed evidence of the distance between the fence and the title line, Mr. Cahoon argued that, regardless of which part of his lot is his side yard or front yard, the fence complies with Hinckley Town's zoning requirements because it is set back more than 30 feet from his lot or parcel line. *Id.*

In response to Mr. Cahoon's argument, Hinckley Town produced at the hearing a previously unknown and undisclosed Ordinance Amendment and Recital, dated June 2, 2005 (hereinafter "Recital"), which states that in the areas of Hinckley Town where the roads are not Town property and where lot lines extend to the center of the road with public rights of way, the set back is measured from the edge of the road. (Recital, R. 40; AA Hearing, R. 185-188.) Mr. Cahoon objected to this Recital as not having been properly posted, certified and incorporated in the Hinckley Town Code in compliance with Utah statutes and as not having been provided to him when he requested copies of all zoning ordinances. (AA Hearing, R. 216-219.) Previously, Mr. Cahoon had

requested copies of all applicable zoning ordinances and regulation, including the entire municipal code of Hinckley Town. (AA Hearing, R. 218; Memorandum, R. 272.) Mr. Cahoon was given copies of what was represented to be the complete Town Code, which did not include this Recital. *Id.*

Mr. Cahoon also made arguments and presented evidence regarding his building permit yard designations and the orientation of his home toward an un-built but platted road, his conversation with council members and the mayor indicating he could build the fence, and the fact that Hinckley Town had permitted other fences to be built without complying with the Recital. (AA Hearing, R. 151-170; Memorandum, R. 272-287.)

Sometime after the March 4, 2009 hearing the Hinckley Town Appeal Authority issued a decision directly relying on the Recital and denying Mr. Cahoon's appeal. (Appeal Authority Decision, R. 38-40.)

In response, Mr. Cahoon filed a Petition for Review and Complaint appealing the decision of the Hinckley Town Appeal Authority. (Petition and Complaint, R. 1-13.) During briefing and oral arguments Mr. Cahoon presented authority that the Recital was not the law and could not properly form the basis for the Appeal Authority's decision, because it had not been properly posted, certified or codified, and argued that the vested rights doctrine and the rules for ordinance interpretation required that the Appeal Authority's decision be overturned. (Memorandum, R. 272-283; Reply Memorandum, R. 331-36; Oral Arguments Transcript, R. 381.) On March 8, 2010, the trial court issued a Ruling upholding the decision of the Hinckley Town Appeal Authority and finding that the Recital, although not the law, could be used to enforce Hinckley Town's ordinances

against Mr. Cahoon. (Ruling, R. 342-352.) On December 8, 2010 the trial court issued its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order Denying Petitioner's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and Affirming the Decision of the Hinckley Town Appeal Authority. (Findings, Conclusions and Order, R. 363-371.) Mr. Cahoon filed a Notice of Appeal on January 3, 2011. (Notice of Appeal, R. 372-373.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The primary issue in this case is whether or not Mr. Cahoon built a fence which complies with Hinckley Town's zoning ordinances. Mr. Cahoon's fence facially complies with the requirements of Hinckley Town's published ordinances, because his fence is set back more than 35 feet from his lot line, but Hinckley Town has sought to enforce against Mr. Cahoon a Recital which would alter the measuring line for Mr. Cahoon's property. This Recital has never been posted, certified or incorporated into Hinckley Town's code and, therefore, has not taken the effect of law and cannot be enforced against Mr. Cahoon. Moreover, according to long standing rules of statutory construction for zoning ordinances, Utah law requires that zoning ordinances be strictly construed in favor of the private property owner's proposed use. Thus even if Hinckley Town's ordinances are ambiguous in regards to the line for measuring set back requirements, such ambiguity must be resolved in favor of Mr. Cahoon's proposed use. It was improper of the trial court to use the Recital as a measuring stick for reasonable land use restrictions, thereby enforcing the Recital against Mr. Cahoon in spite of the fact that it is not enforceable law. This Court should reverse the decision of the Hinckley Town Appeal Authority and reverse the decision of the trial court. Mr. Cahoon's fence

complies with Hinckley Town's published ordinances and he is entitled to a grant of his fence permit.

ARGUMENT

I. UTAH LAW REQUIRES THAT ZONING ORDINANCES BE CONSTRUED IN FAVOR OF THE PRIVATE PROPERTY OWNER, AND MR. CAHOON'S FENCE FACIALLY COMPLIES WITH HINCKLEY TOWN'S PUBLISHED SET BACK AND FENCING ORDINANCES.

It is black letter law in Utah that zoning ordinances must be strictly construed in favor of the private property owner. "Since zoning ordinances are in derogation of a property owners use of land, we are also cognizant that any ordinance prohibiting a proposed use should be strictly construed in favor of allowing the use." *Carrier v. Salt Lake County*, 2004 UT 98, ¶ 31, 104 P.3d 1208; *see also, Rogers v. West Valley City*, 2006 UT App 302, ¶ 15, 142 P.3d 554; *Brown v. Sandy City Bd. of Adjustment*, 957 P.2d 207, 210 (Utah App. 1998); *Patterson v. Utah County Bd. of Adjustment*, 893 P.2d 602, 606 (Utah App. 1995).

The policy reason for this rule is that, under the common law, private property owners have the right to unrestricted use of their property. In light of these fundamental rights, zoning ordinances must be narrowly tailored to a legitimate health, safety or welfare concern and must be strictly construed in favor of the common law property rights they restrict. "Because zoning ordinances are in derogation of a property owner's common-law right to unrestricted use of his or her property, provisions therein restricting property uses should be strictly construed, and provisions permitting property uses should

be liberally construed in favor of the property owner.” *Rogers*, 2006 UT App 302, ¶ 15; *see also, Brown*, 957 P.2d at 210; *Patterson*, 893 P.2d at 606.

In *Brown v. Sandy City Bd. of Adjustment*, this Court determined that the purposes and broad goals of a particular ordinance were insufficient to prohibit a particular use that was not expressly prohibited, even when such a use was inconsistent with the codified purposes and broad goals of the ordinance. “[W]e will not find a violation of law simply because the permitted use may appear inconsistent with the general intent statement when the use is in compliance with the substantive provisions of the ordinance.” *Brown*, 957 P.2d at 212. Thus, when “the use of the propert[y] has met the legal requirements of [the ordinance]” the proposed use must be permitted. *Id.*

Furthermore, it is noteworthy that Mr. Cahoon is entitled to rely upon Hinckley Town’s published ordinances at the time that he first made his application for a fence permit. This principle, called the vested rights doctrine, was first articulated by the Utah Supreme Court in *Western Land Equities v. City of Logan*, 617 P.2d 388 (Utah 1980). The vested rights doctrine has now been codified by the Utah Legislature: “[A]n applicant is entitled to approval of a land use application if the application conforms to the requirements of the municipality’s land use maps, zoning map, and applicable land use ordinance in effect when a complete application is submitted and all application fees have been paid.” UTAH CODE ANN. § 10-9a-509(1)(a). Based on this doctrine, Mr. Cahoon was entitled to a grant of his fence building permit at the time he made application for it, if his application complied with the ordinance “in effect” at the time of his application.

In the present case, Mr. Cahoon's fence complies with Hinckley Town's published ordinances. The Hinckley Town code requires that a solid fence which is placed within the front yard set back of the lot cannot exceed a height of 36 inches. (Addendum: Hinckley Town Code 10-4-13(G); R. 138.) Although the ordinance repeatedly mentions the thirty foot front yard set back, the ordinance only articulates once the manner in which the line for measuring the front yard set back is determined. "Front yard. Each lot or parcel in the R Zone shall have a front yard of not less than thirty (30) feet." (Addendum: Hinckley Town Code 10-4-8(A); R. 135.) The ordinance directly references the "lot" as the reference point for determining set back measurements. 'Lot' is defined as, "A tract of land, esp. one having specific boundaries." BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY, 966 (8th ed. 2004). By referencing the lot, and thereby the boundaries of a particular portion of property, the ordinance implies that the set back is measured on the basis of the lot or title line. Mr. Cahoon's lot, as well as those of his neighbors, goes to the center of the road fronting their property. (AA Hearing, R. 154, 162, 189-192.) Thus, per Hinckley Town's own ordinances, Mr. Cahoon is required to build his fence (which is solid and does exceed 36 inches in height) at least 30 feet back from the edge of his property, from his lot line. (Addendum: Hinckley Town Code 10-4-8(A) and 10-4-13(G); R. 138, 135.) It is undisputed by the parties that Mr. Cahoon's fence is set back 35 feet, 8 inches from the edge of his property. (AA Hearing, R. 154, 162.) Because the fence is set back more than thirty feet from his lot or title line, his fence complies with Hinckley Town's zoning ordinances.

Inasmuch as there is any ambiguity in the Hinckley Town Ordinances in regards to whether the front yard set back is measured from the lot line, Mr. Cahoon is entitled to have that ambiguity resolved in his favor. Ambiguities in zoning ordinances must be “strictly construed” against the proposed prohibited use “and provisions permitting property uses should be liberally construed in favor of the property owner.” *Rogers*, 2006 UT App 302, ¶ 15. Thus, if Hinckley Town’s ordinances are unclear where the line for the front yard set back should be measured, such lack of clarity must fall in favor of Mr. Cahoon. Hinckley Town Code 10-4-8(A) seems to indicate that the front yard set back is measured on the basis of the lot line. Mr. Cahoon is entitled to have the ordinance construed in a manner favorable to his proposed use. *Rogers*, 2006 UT App 302, ¶ 15. Therefore, Mr. Cahoon’s fence complies with the facial requirements of Hinckley Town’s ordinances, and Hinckley Town is not permitted to allege a zoning violation based on the premise that his fence is not within the front yard set back.

Mr. Cahoon relied on Hinckley Town’s published ordinances and came to the March 4, 2009 hearing before the Hinckley Town Appeal Authority prepared to argue that his fence complies with the town ordinances and that there had been no violation. (AA Hearing, R. 154, 162, 218.) However, to Mr. Cahoon’s surprise, officials from Hinckley Town produced a Recital, which purported to change the set back measuring line applicable to his property. (Recital, R. 40; AA Hearing, R. 185-188.) This Recital had never been encoded or made public, and Mr. Cahoon had never been provided a copy of it, or informed about it. (AA Hearing, R. 185, 193, 216-219, 253.) Based on this

Recital, the Hinckley Town Appeal Authority determined that Mr. Cahoon's fence was in violation of Hinckley Town's zoning ordinances. (Appeal Authority Decision, R. 38-40.)

This decision violated not only of Mr. Cahoon's right to have the zoning ordinances construed in his favor, but the decision also violated Mr. Cahoon's right as a citizen to notice of the laws and ordinances that apply to him.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT THE RECITAL INTRODUCED BY HINCKLEY TOWN IS NOT LAW, BUT ERRONEOUSLY ENFORCED THE RECITAL AGAINST MR. CAHOON ANYWAY.

The constitutional protection of due process of law requires, among many other things, that citizens have adequate notice of the laws that govern them. In a municipal setting, it is well established that due process requires that municipal bodies maintain a compilation of the laws in effect that the public has access to. *Salina City v. Lewis*, 172 P. 286, 289 (Utah 1918). This can take the form of a physical book or looseleaf, or ordinances can be made available online. Moreover, when changes to this body of law are made, due process requires that adequate notice be given that changes are contemplated, and that once changes are made, the public be notified so that objections can be made or referenda sought. *Low v. City of Monticello*, 2004 UT 90, ¶ 13, 103 P.3d 130. In contemplation of these due process requirements Utah has enacted several publication statutes which clearly outline the proper procedure for publication and notice necessary before any passed ordinance can take effect. See UTAH CODE ANN. § 10-3-711(1). Before an ordinance, which has been passed by appropriate legislative action, may take effect, either a short summary must be published in a local newspaper or it must

be posted in its entirety in three separate public areas in the municipality. *Id.* “[T]he statutory requirement that the ordinance must be posted is mandatory, and that an ordinance will not become effective until posted in accordance therewith.” *Salina City*, 172 P. at 289; *see also, Low*, 2004 UT 90, ¶ 13; *Logan City v. Steadman*, 155 P. 445, 445 (Utah 1916); *Naples City v. Mecham*, 709 P.2d 359 (Utah 1985). The municipal recorder is then required to certify the passage and posting of the ordinance (UTAH CODE ANN. § 10-3-713) and then incorporate the new ordinance into the municipality’s published code (UTAH CODE ANN. § 10-3-715). These are simple requirements that satisfy a fairly “low threshold” of notice and due process. *Low*, 2004 UT 90, ¶ 15.

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