2011

Alonzo Cahoon v. Hinckley Town Appeal Authority, and Hinckley Town : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Appellant constructed a fence on his property in violation of the Hinckley Town Code (“the Code”). The fence violates the Code in that it does not meet the set back and height requirements of Code Sections 10-4-8(A) and 10-4-13(G) as it is a solid fence, exceeding the 36 inch height limit, constructed within the 30 foot set back. In his Brief of the Appellant (“Appellant’s Brief”), Appellant argues that the fence complies with the ordinance because, if measured from the lot or parcel line, it is set back more than 35 feet from the lot line. Appellant argues that the plain language of the ordinance mandates a set back measurement from the lot or parcel line, even though in Appellant’s case, the property line lies in the middle of a road way, or in the alternative, that the ordinance is ambiguous on its face and therefore should be strictly construed in favor of Appellant. However, the plain language of the ordinance requires a *front yard* of at least 30 feet. The common meaning of “front yard”, especially in the context of a set back requirement, lends itself to an interpretation that the set back is measured from the edge of the roadway. Additionally, the purpose and intent of the ordinance, which is to promote safety and uniformity, support such a conclusion. An adoption of Appellant’s interpretation of the ordinance would produce illogical results that would undermine the policy considerations of the ordinances. Thus even if the plain language of the ordinance does not include a definition for the terms “front yard” or “set back”, a review of the purpose and intent of the ordinance clarifies its terms and the interpretation of the Appeal Authority is correct.

Finally, Appellant’s argument that he is entitled to application of the “vested rights

doctrine” fails because, as illustrated above, the fence he proposed when he applied for a building permit, which was substantially similar to the one he ultimately constructed, did not comply with the zoning ordinances in effect at the time he applied for the permit. Additionally, Appellant did not comply with the procedural requirements of the ordinances because, ultimately, he built the fence without ever obtaining a building permit. The purpose of the vested rights doctrine is to prevent municipalities from changing zoning ordinances once time and expense have been incurred by a landowner in following the necessary procedural requirements. Appellant constructed his fence after being repeatedly told that the fence did not comply with the set back ordinance, which Appellant himself admitted on multiple occasions. The vested rights doctrine does not apply in this case. Appellant failed to follow the proper procedure prior to building his fence. He was well aware that his fence did not comply with set back requirements of the ordinance and proceeded to the build fence anyway, without a building permit.. Accordingly, the decision of the Hinckley Town Appeal Authority was neither arbitrary, capricious nor illegal and the decision of the trial court should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE APPEAL AUTHORITY’S DECISION TO DENY APPELLANT’S BUILDING PERMIT IS CONSISTENT WITH A CORRECT READING OF THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF THE ORDINANCE, IS CONGRUOUS WITH THE COMMONLY ACCEPTED MEANING OF FRONT YARD SET BACK, AND PROMOTES THE PURPOSE AND INTENT OF THE ORDINANCE.

The Appeal Authority’s interpretation of the set back ordinance is correct because it is consistent with both the plain language and the purpose and intent of the ordinance . The

Municipal Land Use, Development, and Management Act (“MLUDMA”) governs appeals from decisions of municipal land use authorities. UTAH CODE ANN. § 10-9a-703. MLUDMA provides that “[t]he appeal authority shall determine the correctness of a decision of the land use authority in its interpretation and application of a land use ordinance. UTAH CODE ANN. § 10-9a-707(3). Additionally, MLUDMA provides that any person adversely affected by a final decision of the appeal authority may file a petition for review in the district court and that the district court must “presume that a decision, ordinance, or regulation” made by the appeal authority is valid and “determine only whether or not the decision, ordinance or regulation is arbitrary, capricious or illegal.” UTAH CODE ANN. § 10-9a-801(3)(a)(i-ii). “When a lower court reviews an order of an administrative agency and the appellate court exercises appellate review of the lower court’s judgment, the appellate court acts as if it were reviewing the administrative agency decision directly and does not defer, or accord a presumption of correctness, to the lower court’s decision.” *Cowling v. Bd. of Oil, Gas & Mining*, 830 P.2d 220, 223 (Utah 1991); *see also, Carrier v. Salt Lake County*, 2004 UT 98, ¶ 17, 104 P.3d 1208. However, when reviewing a claim that a decision of the appeal authority is illegal, this Court “review[s] a local agency’s interpretation of ordinances for correctness, but also afford[s] some level of non-binding deference to the interpretation advanced by the local agency.” *M&S Cox Investments LLC. v. Provo City Corporation*, 2007 UT App 315 ¶ 29, *See also Carrier*, 2004 UT 98, ¶ 28, 104 P.3d 1208. Moreover, “in close cases [the agency’s] interpretation may be a determinative factor in choosing a particular interpretation over another.” *Cox*, 2007 UT App 315 ¶ 29, *See also Carrier*, 2004 UT 98 ¶

39.

Appellant argues that the trial court erred by adopting an incorrect standard of review. (Appellant's Brief, P. 16.) While Appellee agrees that the appropriate standard of review regarding the issue of whether the Appeal Authority acted illegally is correctness, any error of the trial court regarding that issue is harmless as this Court's review of the matters on appeal is *de novo*, allowing no deference to the lower court's decision. Here, the Appeal Authority clearly used the appropriate standard of review when it found that "the Planning and Zoning *correctly* interpreted the ordinance." (AA Decision, R. 293), (emphasis added).

In the present case, the Appeal Authority determined that Appellant's fence is in violation of the Hinckley Town Code in that it obstructs vision, exceeds 36 inches in height and is constructed in violation of the front yard set back. (Addendum: Hinckley Town Code 10-4-13(G), AA Decision, R. 138.) The term "set back" is not specifically defined in the Code. However, under the heading "Front Yard", section 10-4-8(A) of the Code provides that "[e]ach lot or parcel in the R Zone shall have a *front yard* of not less than thirty (30) feet." (Addendum: Hinckley Town Code 10-4-8-(A), (emphasis added).) Appellant interprets that section to require that the set back be measured from the lot or parcel line. However, an adoption of Appellant's interpretation would result in a front yard which includes half of an oiled roadway in situations, such as Appellant's, where the property boundary extends into the Town's right of way. Such an interpretation is completely inconsistent with and contradictory to both the common sense meaning of "front yard" and the purpose and intent of the set back ordinance, which is to maintain safety and create

uniformity. Accordingly, the Appeal Authority's interpretation is consistent with the plain language of the ordinance.

To the extent that the set back ordinance is ambiguous with regard to where the set back should be measured, this Court may look to other modes of construction in reviewing whether the Appeal Authority's interpretation of the ordinance is correct. In *Carrier*, this Court stated that “[i]n interpreting the meaning of a[n] . . . ordinance, [the Court] begin[s] first by looking to the plain language of the ordinance.” *Carrier*, 2004 UT 98, ¶ 30. “If the plain language of the ordinance is ambiguous, [the Court] may resort to other modes of construction.” *Id.* at ¶ 31. In *Cox*, this Court determined that if the reviewing court needs to rely on other modes of construction, it “‘must keep in mind that when interpreting an ordinance, it is axiomatic that this court’s primary goal is to give effect to the [city’s] intent in light of the purpose that the [ordinance] was meant to achieve.’” *Cox*, 2007 UT App 315 ¶ 30 (quoting *Biddle v. Washington Terrace City*, 1999 UT 110, ¶ 14, 993 P.2d 875); See also *Carrier* 2004 UT 98, ¶ 31. Hinckley Town’s express policy consideration in 10-4-13(G) is unobstructed vision. (Addendum: Hinckley Town Code 10-4-13(G).) In other words, by requiring a sufficient front yard set back, passing motorists are able to view persons or vehicles exiting property abutting a road within Hinckley Town, which clearly promotes the health, safety and welfare of the community. Additionally, an overarching goal of zoning is to promote uniformity. Appellant’s interpretation of where the setback should be measured from would result in varying setback requirements according to where the lot’s boundary lies or according to the width of roads abutting property in Hinckley Town. Thus, Hinckley

Town's desire to promote safety and uniformity in zoning will be entirely undermined.

Moreover, in addition to the requirement that any interpretation be construed to give effect to the Town's intent in light of the purpose that the ordinance was meant to achieve, the common meaning of the term must be taken into consideration. *Cox*, 2007 UT App 315 ¶ 35. This Court stated in *Cox* that "ordinance terms should be interpreted and applied according to their commonly accepted meaning unless the ordinary meaning of the term results in an application that is either 'unreasonably confused, inoperable, or in blatant contradiction of the express purpose of the [ordinance].'" *Id.* See also *State v. Souza*, 846 P.2d 1313, 1317 (Utah Ct. App. 1993); (holding that "If there is doubt or uncertainty as to the meaning or application of the provisions of an [ordinance], it is appropriate to analyze the [ordinance] in its entirety, in light of its objective, and to harmonize its provisions in accordance with its intent and purpose." *Cox*, 2007 UT App 315 ¶ 35.); *Rogers v. West Valley City* 142 P.3d 554, 557, 2006 UT App 302 ¶ 20.

Appellant claims that based on the plain language of the ordinance, he believed he was in compliance with the set back requirement when he built the fence. However, his statements and admissions at the Town Council Meetings indicate that he agreed with the Town's interpretation of the ordinance with regard to the set back issue and his primary disagreement was with the Town Council's interpretation that the property abutting the south side of his home was his front yard instead of his side yard. Indeed, this was the main issue raised by Appellant at the Town Council Meetings and was one of four primary issues Appellant addressed before the Appeal Authority. (Town Council Meeting, R. 58-59, 61-68;

AA Hearing, R. 143-144, 153-154.) However, Appellant has waived the issue on appeal to this Court and the issue is only addressed by Hinckley Town to illustrate Appellant's understanding of the set back ordinance before he built the fence.

Appellant's home faces to the west and the fence at issue sits on property adjacent to the south side of his home, abutting Center Street in Hinckley Town. (County Plat Map, R. 46.) When Appellant originally approached the Hinckley Town Council, after having been denied a building permit for his fence by the Planning and Zoning Commission, he admitted that his fence would not comply with the fence ordinance if the town considered the property south of his home to be his frontage because it would not comply with the 30 foot set back requirement. (Town Council Transcript, R. 58.) He conceded that "[b]etween where I am proposing to put my fence on my property line there is twenty feet." *Id.* Appellant argued at length that the Council should grant him a variance because he did not understand when he built his home that the orientation of his home would dictate what type of fence he could build. (Town Council Transcript, R. 58, 64-65.) Instead of challenging the Town Council's interpretation of the set back ordinance, Appellant sought a variance to the existing ordinance on the basis that he believed the property abutting the west of his home was his front yard. (Town Council Transcript, R. 57.) This is significant because under the fence ordinance, if the property abutting Center Street to the south of Appellant's home were his side yard, the 30 foot set back requirement would not apply, except for to any portion of the fence that extends into the front yard set back. (Addendum: Hinckley Town Code 10-4-13(G)). He acknowledged that if he was wrong about the front yard issue, his fence would not be in

compliance. (Town Council Transcript, R. 58). At the hearing before the Appeal Authority, referring to his appearance at the February 2007 Town Council meeting, Appellant stated “. . .all I’m saying is that I come in here and said, okay, according to what their book says I’m wrong.” (AA Transcript, R. 234.) It can only be assumed that Appellant made these admissions because the common meaning of a frontage set back would be a set back measured from the edge of the road way and that the commonly accepted meaning of a front yard does not include half of a road way. An acceptance of Appellant’s interpretation of the ordinance would lead to the exact result this Court has sought to prevent; namely, an interpretation that is “unreasonably confused, inoperable, or in blatant contradiction to the express purpose of the ordinance.” *See Cox*, 2007 UT App 315 ¶ 31.

Additionally, Appellant argues that the set back ordinance must be strictly construed in his favor because the issue of where the set back is measured from was not codified. However, as shown above, the plain language of the ordinance is clear, even absent a definition of “set back” or “front yard.” Any ambiguity in the plain language is easily clarified by consideration of the common meaning of the terms as well as the purpose and intent of the ordinance. Taking those considerations into account, the Appeal Authority’s interpretation of the ordinance was correct.

In *Cox*, this Court provided the appropriate analysis for interpretation of an ambiguous ordinance. *Id.* at ¶ 28. In that case, Provo City was forced to interpret a land use ordinance that failed to define the term “average monthly net rental income”. *Cox*, 2007 UT App 315 ¶ 13. Provo City interpreted the term to require consideration of “fair market value” even

though that interpretation was not expressly contained within the applicable land use ordinance. *Id.* Cox demanded an interpretation allowing for an infinite amortization period, which would effectively create a result that would contravene the purpose of the ordinance. *Id.* at ¶32. This Court held that Provo City's interpretation was legal as it was consistent with the language in the ordinance, congruous with the meaning and purpose of an amortization period, and it harmonizes the ordinance's provisions in accordance with its intent and purposes. *Id.* at ¶35. Thus, Cox demonstrates that this Court must strictly construe the land use ordinance in favor of Appellant only if, after resorting to other modes of construction, the ordinance remains ambiguous. Because the Hinckley Town Appeal Authority's interpretation of a front set back was in accordance with the common meaning of the term, and also gave effect to Hinckley Town's intent in light of the purpose that the ordinance was meant to achieve, the interpretation is correct.

Therefore, as Appellant's interpretation would produce a result that would completely undermine the policy and intent of the zoning ordinance and would be contrary to the common meaning and application of the ordinance, this Court should find that the Appeal Authority's interpretation of the ordinance is correct, and therefore, their decision is not illegal. Accordingly, the decisions of the Hinckley Town Appeal Authority and the trial court should be affirmed.

II. THE TRIAL COURT'S AFFIRMATION OF THE APPEAL AUTHORITY'S DECISION WAS BASED ON BOTH THE PLAIN LANGUAGE AND THE PURPOSE OF THE SET BACK ORDINANCE.

At the hearing before the Appeal Authority, Appellant argued, for the first time, that

his fence was in compliance with the Town's zoning ordinances because, if measured from his lot line, which lies in the middle of the roadway, it was not constructed within the thirty foot set back. (AA Hearing, R. 154). In response, Hinckley Town presented evidence regarding the purpose and intent of the set back ordinance and offered a document entitled "An Amendment to Ordinance 10-14: Supplementary Regulations: in the Hinckley Town Code of Hinckley, Utah" ("the Amendment"). (AA Hearing, R. 186-187, 205-215.) Under the heading "Recitals", the document states that the purpose of the document is to "better define the property line for setback purposes." *Id.*

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